10/0 0/a

IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF	FLORIDA	FILED SID J. WHITE MAY 15 1984
			CLERK, SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION,)		By Chief Deputy Clerk
Petitioner,)		
)		
vs.)	CAS	E NO. 64,464
PATRICIA L. BRYAN, as personal representative for DAVID BRYAN, Deceased,)		
Respondent.)		

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAVID M. MALONEY Deputy General Counsel Department of Business Regulation 725 South Bronough Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-7365

Attorney for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, Department of Business Regulation, Appellee in the District Court of Appeal, and Defendant in the trial court, will be referred to as DBR or Petitioner. Respondent, Patricia L. Bryan, Appellant in the District Court of Appeal, Plaintiff in the trial court, will be referred to as Bryan, Respondent or Plaintiff.

References to the Record-On-Appeal will be designated by "(R-)" and will contain the appropriate page number.

The Citation of the opinion of the District Court of Appeal is <u>Bryan v. State, Department of Business Regulation</u>, 438 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The following statement accepted by DBR in its Answer Brief in the District Court of Appeal was made by Bryan in her Initial Brief below:

"This is a wrongful death action originally brought against several defendants, one of which DBR, is now before this Court because of the lower court's dismissal of the Amended Complaint with prejudice (R-201).

On the evening of October 25, 1979, Bryan and Timothy E. Schomer ("Schomer"), students at Florida State University and residents of Smith Hall, entered elevator no. 2270 ("the elevator") at the third floor of Smith Hall, intending to travel to the ninth floor (R-58). Bryan and Schomer were the only passengers in the elevator (R-58).

After going first to the lobby level in an apparent response to an earlier call, the elevator proceeded upward to the ninth floor. As the elevator passed the sixth floor landing, it stalled at a point approximately six feet above the hall floor (R-3, 59). Neither Bryan nor Schomer had pushed the stop button on the elevator's control panel (R-3).

The legal cause of the elevator's abrupt stalling was alleged as follows: As the elevator passed the sixth floor, Bryan leaned forward while holding onto the car's handrails, one of which was attached to both the left wall and the left.

side emergency-exit door, while the other was attached to the elevator's rear wall (R-59). The forward movement caused the left handrail to move slightly inward and away from the left wall. However, the exit door was not latched so it moved away from the left wall and slightly inward with the handrail (R-59). The emergency-exit door's inward movement broke the electrical contacts located in the elevator's electrical circuit box on the other side of the left wall and the elevator abruptly stalled (R-59).

Bryan and Schomer waited several minutes for the elevator to begin moving again. Periodically, the car made brief movements upward and downward, but never for more than a few seconds. (R-59). The emergency-exit door appeared to be completely closed when in fact it was not. Thus, the elevator sporadically moved by virtue of brief remaking and rebreaking of the electrical contacts when the exit door moved slightly inward or outward (R-59).

When it appeared that the elevator could not be restarted, Bryan opened the car doors and hoistway doors and attempted to exit from the stalled elevator (R-60). However, he lost his balance as he hit below on the sixth floor landing, which caused him to fall backward through the hoistway opening beneath the elevator and down approximately seventy feet into the elevator pit (R-60). Bryan sustained massive injuries from which he died the following day, October 26, 1979, at Tallahassee, Memorial Regional Medical Center (R-60).

On June 24, 1981, Patricia L. Bryan, as personal representative of Bryan's estate, filed her Complaint against Otis Elevator Company, the designer, manufacturer, and installer of the elevator; The Board of Regents, State of Florida, the owner and operator of Smith Hall and the elevator; Montgomery Elevator Company, under contract with the Board of Regents to maintain the elevator in a safe working condition; and DBR, an agency of the State of Florida required by law to inspect the elevator (R-1-22).

On July 24, 1981, DBR filed its motion to dismiss or for more definite statement (R-23-24). By Order dated October 15, 1981, the lower court dismissed the Complaint as to DBR without prejudice (R-34-35).

Plaintiff filed Amended Count IX against DBR on October 16, 1981 (R-36-46). DBR answered Amended Count IX on October 26, 1981 (R-47-53).

On January 22, 1982, a hearing was held before the lower court at which it became clear that plaintiff would be required to amend the Complaint by adding additional parties (R-217-221). The court below granted plaintiff's ore tenus motion for leave to file an amended complaint as to all defendants (R-54-55).

Plaintiff filed the Amended Complaint on March 18, 1982 (R-56-115). DBR moved to dismiss or strike the Amended Complaint, or for a more definite statement, on April 7, 1982 (R-116-118).

At a hearing on May 4, 1982, the lower court announced that it would dismiss the Amended Complaint with prejudice only as to DBR. DBR was dismissed with prejudice by Order filed May 11, 1982 (R-167-168).

On May 7, 1982, after the lower court's oral ruling but before its written Order dismissing DBR with prejudice, plaintiff filed a Motion for Leave to Amend as to DBR (R-158-162), in an effort to more artfully plead as to DBR, since DBR had, in fact, previously answered Amended Count IX (R-47-53). DBR responded on May 10, 1982 (R-163-166).

Further, on May 22, 1982, plaintiff filed a Motion for Rehearing and Supplement to Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint as to DBR, wherein plaintiff sought review of the lower court's dismsisal of the Amended Complaint with prejudice as to DBR. Attached thereto was a Proposed Second Amended Complaint (R-169-197). DBR responded on May 25, 1982 (R-198-200).

By Order filed June 10, 1982, the lower court denied Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend as to DBR and also denied Plaintiff's Motion for Rehearing and Supplement to Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint as to DBR (R-201). It is this Order from which Bryan appeals. Bryan's Notice of Appeal was timely filed on June 24, 1982 (R-253-255)."

> Bryan's Initial Brief, First District Court of Appeal, p. 2-5.

The main briefs below addressed whether the dismissal of the Amended Complaint by the trial court, for failure to state a cause of action, was proper. The First District ordered that supplemental briefs be filed addressing another issue: whether DBR was entitled to an affirmance of the trial court's order of dismissal for governmental immunity from the negligence alleged in the Amended Complaint, i.e., whether DBR enjoys sovereign immunity in this case.

The court issued its Opinion on September 12, 1983. <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). The pertinent facts are stated in the Opinion. Id. at 416-417. The court concluded that the Amended Complaint was sufficient to state a cause of action in negligence against DBR. Id. at 419. Further, the court concluded, based on the test in <u>Commercial</u> <u>Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County</u>, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979), that DBR was not entitled to sovereign immunity:

> [7] After thoroughly reviewing <u>Commercial Carrier</u> and its progeny, it is apparent to us that the elevator safety inspections and certifications required by the applicable statutory provisions for the protection of elevator users cannot reasonably be held to be the kind of policy-making, planning or judgmental governmental functions which our Supreme Court says are excepted from the legislature's broad waiver of sovereign immunity mandate expressed in Section 768.28.

> > 438 So.2d at 421.

DBR petitioned this court to accept discretionary jurisdiction for conflict with three decisions of other district courts: Everton v. Willard, 426 So.2d 996 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983); <u>Neumann v. Davis Water and Waste, Inc.</u>, 433 So.2d 559 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983); and <u>Carter v. City of Stuart</u>, 433 So.2d 669 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). On April 23, 1984, this Court accepted jurisdiction and dispensed with oral argument.

This brief will address both the issue of sovereign immunity, upon which this Court's discretionary jurisdiction is exercised, and the other issue addressed by the First District: Whether the Amended Complaint was properly dismissed by the trial court for failure to state a cause of action in negligence.

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

This case is among the second wave* of cases to reach this court presenting sovereign immunity issues in the wake of <u>Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County</u>, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979). The first wave of cases, numbering six, led to a trilogy of opinions in 1982: <u>Department of</u> <u>Transportation v. Neilson</u>, 419 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982); <u>Ingham v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1982); and <u>City of</u> <u>St. Petersburg V. Collom</u>, 419 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1982).

In this brief DBR will argue that the First District, in its opinion below, failed in its application of <u>Commercial Carrier</u>, because in applying the four-pronged test borrowed from <u>Evangelical United Brotheren Church v.</u> <u>State</u>, 67 Wash. 246, 407 P.2d 440 (1965), it did not



^{*} Among the cases are Trianon Park Condominium Association, Inc. v. City of Hialeah, 423 So.2d 911 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), now pending before this Court, Sup.Ct. Case No. 63,115; Neumann v. Davis Water and Waste, Inc. 433 So.2d 559 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983), rev. den. 441 So.2d 632, (Fla. 1983); The Manors of Inverrary XII, Condominium Association, Inc. v. Atreco-Florida, Inc., 438 So.2d 490 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), rev. dism. So.2d , Everton v. Willard, 426 So.2d 966 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983), now pending before this Court, Sup.Ct. Case No. 63,440; and Carter v. City of Stuart, 433 So.2d 669 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), Sup. Ct. Case No. 64,001.

conduct the further inquiry required to establish that the state governmental entity is not immune from suit.

This brief will also argue that the First District ignored the trend of this court, expressed in <u>Neilson</u>, <u>Ingham</u> and <u>Collom</u>, to restrict the legislature's waiver in section 768.28(1), Florida Statutes of sovereign immunity for governmental liability for torts. Further, this brief will attempt to reconcile the conflict, upon which this Court's jurisdiction is based, between the First District in this case, which fails to follow the <u>Nielson</u> trilogy trend, and the Second and Fourth Districts, which in DBR's view, do observe the trend in <u>Neumann v. Davis Water and Waste, Inc.</u>, 433 So.2d 559 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983) rev.den. <u>441</u> So.2d <u>632</u>, (Fla. 1983), <u>Everton v. Willard</u>, 426 So.2d 966 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983); and <u>Carter v. City of Stuart</u>, 433 So.2d 669 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

This brief will also address the approach of the Third District in <u>Trianon Park Condominium Association, Inc.</u> <u>v. City of Hialeah, 423 So.2d 911 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), now pend-</u> ing before this court, and the approaches of the three opinions written by the Fourth District in <u>The Manors of Inverrary</u> <u>XII Condominium Association, Inc. v. Atreco Florida, Inc.</u>, 438 So.2d 490 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). This case shares with those two cases the aspect that the alleged governmental tort is

negligence in inspection, in this case state inspection of an elevator, in <u>Trianon</u> and <u>The Manors of Inverrary</u>, municipal inspections of buildings. The brief will argue that a decision by this court in <u>Trianon</u>, that the City of Hialeah enjoys sovereign immunity for building inspections, will mandate a reversal of the First District in this case.

This brief will try to weave into the argument, the many themes within the issue of sovereign immunity, primarily DBR's discretionary exercise in this case of police power, the constitutional separation by powers doctrine as a fundamental basis for restricting the legislative waiver of sovereign immunity for torts, an analysis of the waiver statute, itself, and the application of the "discretionary-judgmental-planning" v. "non-discretionary-implementation-operational" dichotomy.

Finally, the brief will analyze the pertinent parts of Chapter 399, Florida Statutes, the "Elevator Law," and will conclude, even if <u>Trianon</u> is affirmed by this court, that the trial court properly dismissed the complaint. The conclusion will rest, not on sovereign immunity, but on the amended complaint's failure to state a cause of action in negligence. The amended complaint does not state a cause of action, nor should it have, because the Legislature did not place on DBR, the duty to ensure the safety of elevators in Florida. That duty remains on the elevator owner or his agent and the "Elevator Law" so states.

POINT I

DBR ENJOYS SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY IN THIS CASE.

A. Commercial Carrier

A preliminary question before the Supreme Court in <u>Commercial Carrier</u>, was the scope of the waiver of sovereign immunity in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes:

> (1) Actions at law against the state or any of its agencies or subdivisions to recover damages against the state or its agencies or subdivisions for injury, or death caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of any employee of the agency or subdivision while acting within the scope of his office or employment under circumstances in which the state or such agency or subdivision, if a private person, would be liable to the claimant in accordance with the general laws of this state, may be prosecuted subject to the limitations specified in this act.

> (5) The state and its agencies and subdivisions shall be liable for tort claims in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances, but liability shall not include punitive damages or interest for the period prior to judgment. . . . [e.s].

While the governmental defendants argued that there is no waiver under the statute where any governmental functions were involved because private individuals do not perform governmental functions, the private plaintiffs argued that the waiver is total because, unlike the Federal Tort Claims Act, there is no express exception for discretionary acts. Citing to several decisions of other jurisdictions, including <u>Weiss v. Fote</u>, 7 N.Y.2d 579, 200 N.Y.S. 2d 409, 167 N.E. 2d 63 (1960), and to its own decision in <u>Wong v. City of Miami</u>, 237 So.2d 132 (Fla. 1970), this Court struck a middle ground, based on the constitutional scheme of separation of powers:

> [9] So we, too, hold that although section 768.28 evinces the intent of our legislature to waive sovereign immunity on a broad basis, nevertheless, certain 'discretionary' governmental functions of coordinate branches of government may not be subjected to scrutiny by judge or jury as to the wisdom of their performance.

The Court then adopted the analysis of <u>Johnson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 69 Cal.2d 782, 73 Cal.Rptr. 240, 447 P.2d 352 (1968) which distinguishes between immune "planning," and nonimmune "operational" levels of decision-making by governmental agencies. To assign to each governmental function its place under one type of function or the other this Court "commended" the test of <u>Evangelical United Bretheren v. State</u>, above. Commercial Carrier at 1022.

It is the test of <u>Evangelical United Bretheren</u> as set forth in <u>Commercial Carrier</u> that the First District applied in this case. In so doing, however, the First District misapplied the test as fully explained in <u>Commercial</u> Carrier.

This Court commended the test as a <u>preliminary</u> one unless all four questions of the test can be answered affirmatively. If so, the inquiry ends and the governmental

entity is found immune. If not, however, i.e., if any of the four questions is answered in the negative, then further inquiry is necessary. Among the factors which might be considered in inquiring further are those listed in Bellavance v. State, 390 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980):

> 'the importance to the public of the function involved, the extent to which government's liability might impair free exercise of the function, and the availability to individuals affected of remedies other than tort suits for damages.' <u>Lipman v.</u> <u>Brisbane Elementary School District</u>, 55 Cal.2d 224, 230, 11 Cal.Rptr. 97, 99, 359 P.2d 465, 467 (1961).

> > Bellavance, at 424.

The First District, while recognizing that "further inquiry," may be necessary, <u>Bryan</u>, above at 420, did not conduct further inquiry. The Court began by criticizing the test, "such test has not proved to be of significant help in a number of cases . . ." Id. The Court then, nonetheless, applied the test and answered two of the four questions in the negative. But instead of conducting further inquiry the First District again criticized the test as to its usefulness, this time in this case, "To us, the effort involves the application of the the proverbial square peg to the round hole," Id. The Court then found the action alleged to be negligent to be non-immune "operational-level" activity implementing that policy," id., rather than immune "planninglevel" activity.

Had the First District conducted further inquiry perhaps its quick conclusion after application of the fourpronged test would have been different. For example, in this case DBR did not own, operate or maintain the elevator. The other defendants, who are going to trial, fall into those categories: the Board of Regents, Otis Elevator Company and Montgomery Elevator Company. Thus, the factor that there were remedies available to the plaintiff other than a suit against DBR, the inspector of the elevator, should have been considered, i.e., there is a remedy through tort suit for damages against the owner, operator, designer, manufacturer, installer and maintainer of the elevator.

The First District may have been right to the extent that the <u>Commercial Carrier</u> test is of little value where police power functions are at issue. This aspect of the case will be elaborated upon further in this brief. Before leaving <u>Commercial Carrier</u>, however, it should be pointed out that the seeds of doubt as to the usefulness of the test, which come to fruition in the <u>Nielson</u> trilogy, were planted in the Commercial Carrier opinion, itself.

The majority opinion by Justice Sundberg discussed the difficulty in determining whether a governmental act was discretionary and therefore protected by immunity because of separation of powers or was ministerial, and therefore, not protected:

A semantic test for identification of discretionary governmental functions which should continue to enjoy immunity was attempted and then disavowed in California, whose statute contains a discretionary exception. For a time, the lower appellate courts in California labored unsuccessfully to develop a dictionary definition of "discretion' which established liability for minor discretionary actions but preserved immunity for high-level decisions. Disavowal of this definitional approach came in Johnson v. State, 69 Cal. Rptr. 240, 447 P.2d 352 (1968), where the California Supreme Court recognized that all governmental functions, no matter how seemingly ministerial, can be characterized as embracing the exercise of some discretion in the manner of their performance. [f.n. omitted.]

The Court then quoted from <u>Johnson</u>, above, to explain the "planning-operational" dichotomy as a means of determining immunity.

We recognize that this interpretation of the term 'discretionary' presents some difficulties. For example, problems arise in attempting to translate this concern for the court's role in the governmental structure into an applicable touchstone for decision. Our proposed distinction, sometimes described as that between the 'planning' and 'operational' levels of decision-making (cf. Dalehite v. United States, supra, 346 U.S. 15, 35-36, 73 S.Ct. 956, [97 L.Ed. 1427]), however offers some basic guideposts, although it certainly presents no panacea. Admittedly, our interpretation will necessitate delicate decisions; the the very process of ascertaining whether an official determination rises to the level of insulation from judicial review requires sensitivity to the considerations that enter into it and an appreciation of the limitations on the court's ability to reexamine it.

The point of these quotes from <u>Commercial Carrier</u> is that this Court was aware, as were the federal and other state courts from hard experience, that it is exceedingly difficult to determine which governmental actions should be immune because of their discretionary nature and which not. Given that the inquiry is set in the context of "separation of powers," it becomes even more delicate. The task for the courts in these case-by-case undertakings, is not just to determine immunity in the case at bar but to prevent the unwarranted intrusion, unwitting or otherwise, of the judicial branch into the executive or legislative arena.

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