IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUN 4 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION,

Petitioner,

Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

CASE NO. 64,464

PATRICIA L. BRYAN, as personal representative for JOSEPH DAVID BRYAN, Deceased,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

E.C. DEENO KITCHEN
BRIAN S. DUFFY
ROBERT KING HIGH, JR.
of the law firm of
Ervin, Varn, Jacobs,
Odom & Kitchen
Post Office Drawer 1170
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 224-9135

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

INTRODUCTION

Respondent, Patricia L. Bryan, will use the same references for the parties and the record on appeal as that used by petitioner, DBR.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Bryan adopts the statement of the case and facts set forth in the initial brief of petitioner at pages 2-7.

POINT I

DBR DOES NOT ENJOY SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY IN THIS CASE

Contrary to DBR's contention, the issue here is not one of an appellate court failing to follow the "trend" of the law. Rather, the First District's opinion is bottomed on this Court's decision in Commercial Carrier Corporation v. Indian River County, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979). DBR asserts in its brief that the First District's opinion fails to follow Department of Transportation v. Neilson, 419 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982), and its companion cases. The First District, however, by no means ignored this Court's most recent decisions in the area of sovereign immunity. The appellate court opined:

Unlike a number of recent cases, we do not deal here with a governmental entity's maintenance of traffic controls or its creation of a 'known dangerous condition' on government-owned property or property on which the governmental entity has a right-of-way or easement. See City of St. Petersburg v. Collom, [419 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1982)]; Department of Transportation v. Neilson, 419 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982); Ingham v. State, Department of Transportation, 419 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1982); Perez v. Department of Transporta-

tion, So.2d (Fla. 1983) (8 FLW 255)...

The First District's conclusion that DBR does not enjoy sovereign immunity in this case was premised almost entirely upon <u>Commercial Carrier</u> and a common sense reading and construction of Chapter 399, Florida Statutes (1979).

While the appellate court noted that it found the application of the four-prong test set forth in <u>Commercial Carrier</u> to be not particularly well-suited to the facts of this case, the court nevertheless applied that test to its satisfaction as follows:

(1) Does the challenged act, omission, or decision necessarily involve a basic governmental policy, program or objective? Assuming that this guestion asks whether Chapter 399 elevator inspections constitute a basic governmental policy, program or objective, we are inclined to answer this question in the affirmative. Is the questioned act, omission, or decision essential to the realization or the accomplishment of that policy, program or objective as opposed to one which would not change the course or direction of the policy, program or objection? We believe that, regardless of whether this question contemplates (a) negligent inspection or (b) nonnegligent inspection as the questioned act, omission or decision the question should be answered in a negative, and

that, instead, it is one which would not change the course or direction of the policy, program or objective. Compare Bellevance v. State, 390 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). (3) Does the act, omission, or decision require the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment, and expertise on the part of the governmental agency involved? Most assuredly, in the day-to-day handling of inspections, judgment calls will have to be made by those conducting the inspections. However, we do not believe that the elevator inspections contemplated by Chapter 399 involve the kind of policy decisions or judgments to which this question is addressed. We, therefore, answer this question in the negative. (4) Does the governmental agency involved possess the requisite constitutional, statutory or lawful authority and duty to make the challenged act, omission or decision? We answer this question in the affirmative with the understanding that, properly translated, the question is whether DBR had the authority to inspect the elevators.

Very simply, application of the <u>Commercial Carrier</u> test to the facts of this case compels the conclusion that the umbrella of sovereign immunity does not cover DBR here. DBR's contention that the First District did not conduct the further inquiry, it was "required" to do is unavailing. This Court's decision in <u>Commercial Carrier</u> made it clear that no such further inquiry is <u>required</u>. This Court opined:

If, however, one or more of the questions call for or suggest a negative answer, then further inquiry may well become necessary, depending upon the facts and circumstances involved.

Commercial Carrier, supra at 1019, quoting from Evangelical United Bretheran Church v. State, 407 P.2d 440 (1965).

In finding that DBR's alleged wrongdoing was operational in nature, the First District relied upon a common sense reading of pertinent provisions of Chapter 399, the substance of which is set forth below (emphasis supplied):

- 1. The division <u>shall</u> adopt an elevator safety code. Section 399.02(2).
- 2. The <u>division</u> only <u>shall</u> have the power to grant exceptions or to permit the uses of other devices or methods as may be provided by the Elevator Safety Code. Section 399.02(3).
- 3. The owner or his duly appointed agent shall be responsible for the safe operation and proper maintenance of the elevator . . . after it has been approved by the division and placed in service. Section 399.02(6)(b).
- 4. Elevators, dumbwaiters, and escalators installed before July 1, 1971, may be used without being rebuilt to

comply with the requirements of the Elevator Safety Code; provided, however, <u>all</u> such elevators <u>shall</u> be maintained in a <u>safe operating condition</u> and <u>shall</u> be subject to <u>inspections</u> and tests required by Section 399.08. Section 399.03(3)

- 5. Every inspector shall forward to the division a full report of each inspection made of any elevator . . . showing the exact condition of the said elevator. Section 399.06(1).
- 6. If <u>any</u> elevator be found which, in the judgment of an inspector, is <u>dangerous</u> to life and property, . . . such inspector may require the owner or user of such elevator to discontinue its operation, and the <u>inspector shall</u> place a notice to that effect conspicuously on or in such elevator . . [Where] an elevator has been placed out of service, the owner or user of such elevator shall not again operate the same until repairs have been made and <u>authority</u> given by the <u>division</u> to resume operation of the said elevator. Section 399.06(2).
- 7. A <u>certificate shall</u> be issued by the division where inspections and tests as required by Section 399.05 show that elevators are installed in accordance with the requirements of this chapter. Section 399.07(1).

- 8. Elevators as defined under Section 399.01 shall be inspected by an inspector at least one each calendar year. Section 399.08(1).
- 9. Whenever the <u>division shall</u>, from inspection of an elevator, determine that in the <u>interest of the public safety</u> such elevator or any part or appliance thereof, is out of order and in an unsafe condition contrary to the requirements of this chapter, the <u>division shall</u> have the power to order the discontinuance of the use of any such elevator. . . Section 399.08(2).
- 10. The <u>division shall</u> certify the inspection of each elevator which, after inspection, is judged to be in conformity with the requirements of this chapter. Section 399.08(3).
- 11. It <u>shall</u> be the <u>duty</u> of the <u>division</u> to enforce the provisions of this chapter. Section 399.10.

The aforementioned statutory duties and responsibilities of DBR are self-explanatory. It cannot be contended seriously by DBR that its duties are effectively only that oversight. Rather, DBR has numerous mandatory duties pursuant to Chapter 399, including that it must insure that all elevators are in a safe operating condition. DBR's contention that

it should not be "burdened" with the duty of properly inspecting "every one of the tens of thousands of elevators in the State of Florida" simply ignores the plain reading of Chapter 399 and attempts to confuse the issue here with protestations that "the sky is falling."

DBR's reliance upon Neumann v. Davis Water and Waste, Inc., 433 So.2d 559 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), Everton v. Willard, 426 So.2d 996 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), and Carter v. City of Stuart, 433 So.2d 669 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) is misplaced.

Neumann, Everton, and Carter, are all "police power" cases. None of the three decisions turned on the question of whether the state agency violated a statutory duty to inspect and certify. On the other hand, the First District's opinion here is replete with references to various portions of Chapter 399, wherein DBR was statutorily required to insure that this elevator was in a safe operating condition.

For example, <u>Neumann</u> is readily distinguishable from this case. In affirming the lower court's dismissal of the complaint against DER, the Second District reasoned:

The most important factor to consider is that by imposing rules and regulations and deciding when and where or what to expect, DER is exercising the police

power of the state, a purely governmental function which historically has enjoyed immunity from tort liability [citations omitted]. If we were to hold DER liable here we would, by analogy be requiring a law enforcement officer to be posted on every street corner. Anytime a crime or other violation of law resulted in injury to person or property, a judge or jury would have to second guess the reasonableness or adequacy of the police action.

(Emphasis supplied.)

On the contrary, Chapter 399 does <u>not</u> permit DBR to "decide when and where or what to inspect." Rather, as specifically noted by the appellate court, Chapter 399 requires DBR to inspect <u>all</u> elevators <u>each</u> calendar year.

Everton is no different from Neumann. Everton involved a decision by a deputy sheriff to release an intoxicated motorist. Again, this "police power" concern is essentially like that which was the subject of Neumann. In Neumann, as noted above, the court, in affirming the dismissal of the complaint, opined that to do otherwise would "be requiring a law enforcement officer to be posted on every street corner." The decision in Everton may be similarly described.

<u>Carter</u> merely dealt with a city's alleged failure to enforce an ordinance governing dangerous dogs running

at large. The ordinance was to be enforced by the impoundment of such a dog by an officer of the City of Stuart or by a city police officer. Again, like Neumann and Everton, Carter involved a "police power" concern.

Neumann, Everton, and Carter are each "police power" cases wherein no statutory duty to act was at issue. This case is markedly different. Accordingly, there is simply no basis for DBR to contend that the three cases are governing here.

DBR's contention that Trianon Park v. City of Hialeah, 423 So.2d 911 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983) is different from this case is without merit. DBR contends that its elevator inspectors are under no duty to insure the safety of the elevators they inspect. By making such a bold statement, DBR completely ignores the plain meaning of Chapter 399, and the First District's emphatic finding of duty on its part. Further, to contend that elevator inspectors need not be concerned with the safety of elevators, necessarily causes one to wonder just what it is they are supposed to do.

DBR seems to believe that the statute at issue in <u>Trianon</u> is so different than Chapter 399 that the result

reached by the Third District is not persuasive. However, DBR overlooks Section 533.80(3), Florida Statutes (1981), which statute provides in pertinent part:

At its own option each enforcement district or local enforcement agency may promulgate rules granting to the owner of a singlefamily residence one or more exemptions from the State Minimum Building Codes relating to (a) addition, alteration, or repairs performed by the property owner upon his own property, provided any addition or alteration shall not exceed 1,000 square feet or the square footage of the primary structure, whichever is less; (b) addition, alteration or repairs by a nonowner within a specific cost limitation set by rule, provided the total cost shall not exceed \$5,000 within any 12-month period; (c) building and inspection fees.

(Emphasis supplied.)

Thus, the fact that DBR or the City of Hialeah building inspectors need not strictly enforce each and every provision of the applicable code is simply not dispositive of this case.

Finally, Bryan respectfully believes this Court should not rely upon the dissenting opinion in the case of the Manors of Inverrary, XII Condominium Association.

Inc. v. Atreco-Florida, Inc., 438 So.2d 490 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), which is discussed in detail in DBR's brief.

Bryan refers this Court to the recent case of Huhn v. Dixie Insurance Company, ____ So.2d ____ (Fla. 5th DCA, May 17, 1984), wherein the Fifth District Court of Appeal reached a decision that it believed to be in direct conflict with Everton. In Huhn, the issue was whether the City of Daytona Beach should enjoy sovereign immunity for the actions of its police officers who stopped a visibly intoxicated driver who was operating his motor vehicle in a careless and reckless fashion, but who did not arrest or otherwise detain the driver. Rather, the police permitted him to continue operating the motor vehicle such that shortly thereafter and while still intoxicated, he ran into and caused injury to an innocent third party. The court determined that sovereign immunity did not shield the City of Daytona Beach and reversed the trial court's dismissal of the complaint, reasoning:

In deciding which of several available methods he could use to get Collins off the streets, this was not the exercise of a discretionary governmental function. Rather the officer was implementing policies established by the legislature of the State of Florida for the protection

of the citizens of this state. determination of strategy and tactics for the deployment of police powers does require the exercise of discretionary governmental functions and in such cases immunity should be the rule. However, a police officer who actually stops a visibly intoxicated driver can not be furthering any legitimate governmental policy when the officer decides to not enforce the law, and turns the driver loose. Collins was intoxicated and visibly unfit, because of his alcohol consumption, to be operating a motor vehicle, and the police officer who stopped him observed and knew of this condition. On the basis of this knowledge, there was no 'policy-making, planning or judgmental governmental function' to be performed by the police officer. Although the police officer had some discretion in how he would handle the matter, his duty was plain (and operational) -- he could not turn this drunken driver loose on the streets. An intoxicated and impaired driver on the street is an 'accident looking for a place to happen.' The danger involved to everyone on the streets when an intoxicated driver is on the loose is so apparent and obvious that everyone should know of it. are not dealing with a claim of liability because of the <u>failure</u> to the police to apprehend a drunken driver who later causes injury to some one lawfully using the streets. Rather, we deal with a situation where the driver was stopped and his drunken and unfit condition was apparent to the officer. Under these circumstances, it can hardly be argued that the ultimate accident and injury was not foreseeable. (emphasis in original.)

The court opined further:

Because the complaint alleged that the police officers knew Collins to be intoxicated yet failed to detain or arrest him, there was little room for discretion which would warrant a finding of immunity. The legislature has enacted statutes designed to keep intoxicated drivers from operating motor vehicles, and it is the responsibility and duty of the police department to carry out such policies. The citizens of this state would be illserved if we were to afford police officers immunity when they encounter drivers who unquestionably are impaired to the point where they cannot operate a vehicle safely, yet fail to detain or arrest such individuals or otherwise get them off the streets. At that point the police officer is merely implementing policy by enforcing the laws, and cannot be said to be exercising a discretionary governmental function.

Just as the police officers in Daytona Beach have duties and responsibilities pursuant to statute, so does each and every elevator inspector employed by DBR. DBR elevator inspectors exercise no discretion in determining whether a violation of the elevator code exists. For example, the elevator inspector needs only determine that the side emergency exit door obstructs access to the elevator - he then automatically determines that a violation of the elevator

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